Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-21-2016

Bedard and Musser v. City of Boise City Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44171

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The parties to this case are successors-in-interest to a 1991 agreement entitled PERMANENT EASEMENT AGREEMENT which purported to grant an access easement across land¹ now owned by Defendant-Respondent City of Boise (the "City") to an adjacent 63-acre parcel² owned by Plaintiff-Appellant Boise Hollow Land Holdings, RLLP ("Boise Hollow"). This case concerns the interpretation of the Permanent Easement Agreement.

It is Boise Hollow's position that the plain language of the Permanent Easement Agreement permits Boise Hollow to expand the easement area to such dimensions as are necessary to comply with the requirements of the Ada County Highway District (ACHD) and then dedicate the easement road to ACHD as a public road.

The City contends that the Permanent Easement Agreement does not call for the expansion of the easement area. Accordingly, Boise Hollow sought a declaration from the District Court that, under the Permanent Easement Agreement, the easement road may be expanded in order to meet ACHD's requirements.

Both parties filed motions for summary judgment under Rule 56 of the IDAHO RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE (I.R.C.P.). District Judge Jonathan Medema determined that the Permanent Easement Agreement did not successfully convey a permanent easement to Boise Hollow's

¹ Lot 1, Block 2, Nibler Subdivision, Boise, Ada County, Idaho.

² Lot 4, Block 2, Nibler Subdivision, Boise, Ada County, Idaho.

predecessor-in-interest and that any interest which had been conveyed had since been extinguished. Judge Medema therefore entered judgment in favor of the City. Boise Hollow now appeals Judge Medema's decision.

B. <u>Relevant Procedural History</u>

The following District Court proceedings are pertinent to his appeal:

1. Pleadings and Parties

Plaintiff Bedard and Musser filed its COMPLAINT FOR QUIET TITLE (R. 000007-000051)³ on June 17, 2015. The City filed its ANSWER TO COMPLAINT (R. 000052-000057) on July 8, 2015.

Subsequently, Bedard and Musser assigned its interest in the 63-acre parcel and the Permanent Easement Agreement to Boise Hollow. *See* R. 000105-000107. On December 2, 2016, it was ordered that Boise Hollow be joined as an additional party plaintiff to this matter. *See* R. 000058-000059. The parties stipulated to the filing by Plaintiffs of the FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL, which recites and incorporates Boise Hollow's interest into the factual allegations and prayer for relief.

The FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT (R. 000060-000107) was filed on December 2, 2015. The City's ANSWER TO FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT (R. 000223-000228) was filed on December 14, 2015.

³ The Clerk's Record on Appeal is cited herein as "R." The Reporter's Transcript on Appeal is cited as "Tr." The exhibits admitted at the trial are cited as "Ex."

2. Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment, and Related Motions

i. Boise Hollow's Motion for Summary Judgment, and City's Opposition

Boise Hollow filed its MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R. 000108-000109) on December 3, 2015. Concurrently, Boise Hollow filed: [1] MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R. 000198-000222); [2] AFFIDAVIT OF REBECCA W. ARNOLD ("Arnold Aff.," R. 000134-000171); [3] AFFIDAVIT OF KEVIN MCCARTHY, P.E. (R. 000109-133); and [4] AFFIDAVIT OF DEAN W. BRIGGS, P.E. ("Briggs Aff.," R. 000172-000197).

On January 15, 2016, the City filed the following in direct opposition to Boise Hollow's Motion: [1] DEFENDANT'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R. 000375-000397); and [2] SECOND DECLARATION OF COUNSEL ABIGAIL R. GERMAINE (R. 000398-000404).

On February 2, 2016, Boise Hollow filed its REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R. 000405-000420).

The Court heard oral argument on this motion on February 16, 2016.

ii. The City's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, and Boise Hollow's Opposition

The City filed DEFENDANT'S CROSS-MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R.000229-000230) on December 31, 2015. Concurrently, the City filed: [1] MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S CROSS-MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R. 000231-000251); [2] DECLARATION OF TOMMY T. SANDERSON (R. 000352-000369).; and [3] DECLARATION OF COUNSEL ABIGAIL R. GERMAINE (R. 000252-000351).

On February 2, 2016, Boise Hollow filed the following in direct opposition to the City's Motion: [1] PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S CROSS-MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R. 000436-000452); [2] AFFIDAVIT OF COLIN CONNELL ("Connell Aff.," R. 000432-000435); and (3) SECOND DECLARATION OF TOMMY T. SANDERSON ("Second Sanderson Decl.," R. 000430-000431).

On February 9, 2016, the City filed the following in further support of DEFENDANT'S CROSS-MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT: [1] REPLY IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S CROSS-MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (R. 000523-000536); and [2] THIRD DECLARATION OF COUNSEL ABIGAIL R. GERMAINE (R. 000537-000643).

The Court heard oral argument on this motion on February 16, 2016.

iii. City's Motions to Strike Affidavits of Arnold and Connell

On January 15, 2016, in conjunction with its opposition to Boise Hollow's MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, the City filed its MOTION TO STRIKE THE AFFIDAVIT OF REBECCA W. ARNOLD (R. 000370-000374). Boise Hollow filed PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO STRIKE AFFIDAVIT OF REBECCA W. ARNOLD (R. 000421-000429) on February 2. The City filed its REPLY BRIEF REGARDING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE THE AFFIDAVIT OF REBECCA W. ARNOLD (R. 000655-000658) on February 17.

On February 9, 2016, the City filed its MOTION TO STRIKE THE AFFIDAVIT OF COLIN CONNELL (R. 000644-000648). Boise Hollow filed PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO STRIKE AFFIDAVIT OF COLIN CONNELL (R. 000649-000654) on February 15.

The Court heard oral argument on these motions on February 16, 2016.

iv. Oral Argument on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment, and related Motions to Strike

The Court heard oral argument on the cross-motions for summary judgment, and related motions to strike, on February 16, 2016.

3. Judge Medema's MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER RE: CROSS MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The Trial Court issued its MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER RE: CROSS MOTIONS FOR

SUMMARY JUDGMENT ("Memorandum Decision Re: MSJ," R. 000680-000697) on April 1, 2016.

Boise Hollow summarizes the essential findings of fact and conclusions of law which form the

basis of Judge Medema's judgment in favor of the City as follows:

- The Permanent Easement Agreement did not successfully convey a permanent easement across Lot 1, Block 2 of the Nibler Subdivision in favor of Lot 4, Block 2. As a matter of law, the Permanent Easement Agreement could not convey an easement permanently burdening the title of Lot 1 because the grantor held only a leasehold interest. See R. 000688-000690.
- The interest conveyed by the grantor under the Permanent Easement Agreement was extinguished when the grantor transferred its interest in the leasehold to another tenant in 1993, or upon termination of the lease in 2007. See R. 000694.
- 4. Jedge Medema's MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER RE: PARTIES' VARIOUS MOTIONS TO STRIKE

Concurrent to Memorandum Decision Re: MSJ, THE TRIAL COURT also entered its

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER RE: PARTIES' VARIOUS MOTIONS TO STRIKE

(Memorandum Decision Re: Motions to Strike, R. 000674-000679). Thereby, Judge Medema

excluded all or some of the Arnold Aff., Connell Aff., and Second Sanderson Decl. as follows:

i. Arnold Aff.

On the basis that the Permanent Easement Agreement is unambiguous and testimony pertaining to the parties' intent is not relevant, the District Court excluded nearly all portions of

the Arnold Aff. as follows:

"The Court admits the assertions contained in the last full paragraph on page 2 of the affidavit of Rebecca Arnold, wherein Ms. Arnold asserts that, as Vancroft's attorney, she personally drafted the Permanent Easement Agreement and that a true and accurate copy of the Agreement is attached to her affidavit. The Court admits the copy of the Agreement attached to her affidavit. The Court excludes the remainder of the affidavit as irrelevant."

R. 000675-000676.

ii. Connell Aff. and Second Sanderson Decl.

On the basis that the Permanent Easement Agreement is unambiguous and testimony pertaining to the parties' intent is not relevant, the District Court excluded all portions of the Connell Aff. and Second Sanderson Decl. *See* R. 000675.

5. Entry of Final Judgment and Amended Judgment

Final judgment in compliance with IRCP 54(a) was entered on June 7, 2016, when the

Trial Court entered its AMENDED JUDGMENT (R. 000714). Boise Hollow appeals therefrom.

C. Statement of Facts

1. Summary History of the Land

Boise Hollow substantially adopts the undisputed recitation of facts set forth by the District Court's Memorandum Decision Re: MSJ at R. 000682-000684:

In 1943 Victor Nibler purchased land in what is now northwest Boise, Idaho.⁴ See R. 000543-000544. This land includes both parcels at issue in this case: "Lot 1" – the parcel owned by the City, and "Lot 4" – the parcel owned by Boise Hollow.⁵

In the 1970s Victor and Ruth Nibler (the "Niblers") constructed a golf course on portions of their land. Lot 1 is located within the golf course. In 1980, the Niblers leased the golf course, including Lot 1, to a group of individuals for a period of 99 years. *See* R. 000546-0005550.

In 1986, the leasehold was assigned to Tee, Ltd. ("Tee"), whose principals included Tommy and Roxanne Sanderson (the "Sandersons"). See R. 000566-000574.

In 1990, the Niblers sold much of their land, including Lot 1 and Lot 4, to Vancroft Corporation ("Vancroft"). *See* R. 000576-000584. The Niblers also assigned their interest as landlords of the golf course, including Lot 1, leasehold to Vancroft. *See* R. 000586-000591.

On September 14, 1991, Vancroft, Tee, and the Sandersons executed the Permanent

⁴ Nibler purchased (1) the Northeast ¹/₄ of the Northeast ¹/₄, the West ¹/₂ of the Northeast ¹/₄, the Southwest ¹/₄, and the West ¹/₄ of the Southeast ¹/₄ of Section 21, Township 4 North, Range 2 East, Boise Meridian; and (2) the Northwest ¹/₄ and the Northwest ¹/₄ of the Northeast ¹/₄ of Section 28 in Township 4 North, Range 2 East from the Boise Meridian.

⁵ "Lot 4" was commonly described by the parties in their briefing to the Trial Court as the "Development Parcel." For the sake of uniformity, Boise Hollow herein adopts the term "Lot 4" which was employed by Judge Medema in his Memorandum Decision Re: MSJ.

Easement Agreement (R.000144-000155). At this time, Tee possessed Lot 1 as tenants pursuant to the leasehold, while Vancroft held fee simple title to both Lot 1 and Lot 4.

In 1992, the Niblers, the Sandersons, and Vancroft recorded a subdivision plat with the Ada County Recorder's Office (R. 000182-000184). On the plat, the golf course was designated as being Lots 2 and 6 in Block 1 and Lot 1 in Block 2 (a.k.a. "Lot 1 ") of the Nibler subdivision. *See id.* The portion of Vancroft's land that was not subject to the leasehold held by Tee was designated as Lot 4 of Block 2 of the Nibler subdivision (a.k.a. "Lot 4"). *See id.*

The crux of the parties' dispute in this matter is [1] whether the Permanent Easement Agreement created an easement over Lot 1 for the benefit of Lot 4, and [2] if that easement can be expanded to meet the requirements of ACHD for the purpose of dedication and use as a public street. The terms of the Permanent Easement Agreement are discussed in depth later below.

In 1993, Tee, Ltd. assigned its interest in the leasehold in the golf course, including Lot 1, to a Mr. David Hendrickson. *See* R. 000593-000594.

In October of 1993, Vancroft transferred title in Lot 4 to Bedard & Musser. See R. 000598-000599. Vancroft likewise assigned its interest in the Permanent Easement Agreement to Bedard & Musser. See R. 000625-000643.

In 1999, Vancroft sold the golf course, including Lot 1, to BlueGrass, LLC. See R. 000601.

In 2007, Bluegrass, LLC and David Hendrickson terminated the lease. See R. 000603-0005605. Bluegrass then conveyed the golf course, including Lot 1, to Quail Hollow, LLC, the

only apparent member of which was Mr. Hendrickson. See R. 000607-000611.

In 2013, Quail Hollow, LLC conditionally gifted the golf course, including Lot 1, to the City. See R. 000613-000620.

In 2015, Bedard & Musser conveyed Lot 4 to Boise Hollow, LLC. See R. 000622-000623. Concurrently, Bedard & Musser assigned its interest in the Permanent Easement Agreement to Boise Hollow. See R. 000105-000107.

2. Current Status of Lot 1 and Lot 4

Boise Hollow holds title in fee simple to Lot 4 pursuant to that Quitclaim Deed dated June 26, 2015, and recorded with the Ada County Recorder on July 13, 2015, as Instrument No. 2016-062695. *See* R. 000622-000623.

The City holds a conditional possessory interest in Lot 1 pursuant to that certain Deed of Gift dated November 1, 2013, and recorded with the Ada County Recorder on December 4, 2014, as Instrument No. 113130306. *See* R. 000613-000620.

3. Platting the Nibler Subdivision

When the Niblers deeded a portion of the golf course property to Vancroft in 1990, they inadvertently violated the City's then-existing subdivision ordinances by illegally dividing the land. This prompted the Niblers, Sandersons, and Vancroft (collectively, the "Developers") to begin the process of preparing and filing a subdivision plat designated as the Nibler Subdivision parcels in order to properly subdivide the several segregations of land, comply with the City's subdivision ordinances, and legally prepare the land adjacent to the golf course for future development. This process, of course, necessarily involved a lengthy series of preliminary

applications and discussions between the Developers, the City, and ACHD.

Briggs Engineering, Inc. ("BEI") was retained by the Developers to provide engineering, land-use planning, and land surveying services with respect to the platting and development of the Nibler Subdivision. R. 000173. BEI drafted the preliminary and final Nibler Subdivision plats and worked closely with the City of Boise and ACHD during the plat review, revision, and approval process. *Id.*⁶

During the plat review and approval process, the City required that BEI and the Developers make certain revisions to the preliminary plat before the City would approve it to become the final plat. R. 000173. The City was aware that the Nibler Subdivision, and its parcels, might one day be developed into multi-residential subdivision(s) which would require vehicular access to the adjacent public roadways. *Id.* Accordingly, the City specifically required that the Developers include a notation on the plat to clarify that ACHD has jurisdiction and authority over any roads or applications to construct roads which would give the Nibler Subdivision direct vehicular access to North 36th Street, which is the main public road adjacent to the Nibler Subdivision and the Quail Hollow Golf Course. *Id.*

The City's requirement that access to 36th Street be subject to ACHD's jurisdiction and approval was communicated to the Developers by way of a letter from the City dated June 22, 1990. *See* Briggs Aff., EXHIBIT "A" (R. 000177-000180). At Paragraph 15 (the final paragraph

⁶ The testimony set forth in the Briggs Aff. is wholly uncontradicted. Moreover, the City has not challenged the admissibility of any portion of the Briggs Aff., nor did the District Court strike any portion thereof.

of Page 2, the letter sets forth the City's requirement that access to 36th Street be subject to ACHD's jurisdiction and approval:

"No direct lot access shall be allowed to North 36th Way... unless otherwise approved by Ada County Highway District."

R. 000179 (emphasis added).

Per the City's instructions, BEI and the Developers revised the preliminary plat so that the final plat does reflect the City's requirement that access to 36th Street be subject to ACHD's jurisdiction, control, and approval. The final Nibler Subdivision plat was executed and recorded on January 29, 1991, as Instrument No. 9205592. *See* Briggs Aff., EXHIBIT "B" (R. 000181-000184).

Note "5" of the final plat contains the City's required notation:

5. Restricted Access: Except for Lots 3 and 4, Block 1, and Lots 2 and 3, Block 2, no lots in this subdivision shall be provided with a primary access to N. 36th Way, **unless said primary access is specifically approved by the Ada** County Highway District.

R. 000182 (emphasis added). This required note on the final plat confirms not only that the City was aware that the easement road might be expanded to meet ACHD's specifications, but that the City expressly required that the authority to approve or deny the landowner's application to do so be vested in ACHD.

4. The Permanent Easement Agreement

After finalizing the Nibler Subdivision plat, Vancroft and Tee/the Sandersons (collectively, Tee) negotiated the Permanent Easement Agreement to secure for Vancroft a vehicular access easement across the Golf Course to North 36th Street for the benefit of Lot 4. In

order to comply with the specifications communicated by the City and ACHD during the platting process, Vancroft and Tee requested certain information from BEI in order to draft their agreement. R. 000174. Specifically, the parties requested that BEI provide the then-existing road width requirements for both private and public roads. *Id.* It was communicated to BEI that the parties intended that the easement road would initially be of a limited width sufficient to satisfy the then-existing requirements of a private road, and that the road would be expanded to meet ACHD's requirements if it was later converted to public road and dedicated to ACHD. *Id.* Accordingly, BEI advised Vancroft and the Tee that an easement width of 40' would satisfy the then-existing requirements for a private road. R. 000175. BEI further advised that ACHD would require a width in excess of that amount when the road was converted to a public road. *Id.*

Accordingly, the Permanent Easement Agreement describes the initial width of the easement as being 40 feet wide. *See* Permanent Easement Agreement at 1 (R. 000160), numbered-paragraph "1". However, the Permanent Easement Agreement, being in harmony with City's requirements for the Nibler Subdivision plat, later provides that the size of the easement road may be expanded to meet ACHD requirements for a public road:

6. Upon the completion of the construction of the roadway, Grantee shall have the right to dedicate said road to the Ada County Highway District or such other governmental agency then having jurisdiction and control over public roads and highways in Boise, Ada County, Idaho. Such road shall meet all then existing ordinances and requirements, including the construction of roads, curbs, sidewalks, bonding, etc. Upon such dedication, Grantee shall have no further obligations hereunder, except for the obligation of this Agreement not assumed by governmental agency.

Permanent Easement Agreement at 3 (R. 000162), numbered-paragraph "6" (emphasis added).

Local attorney Rebecca W. Arnold represented Vancroft at the time that the Permanent Easement Agreement was executed by Tee and Vancroft. R. 000135. She personally drafted the terms of the Permanent Easement Agreement. *Id.* The Arnold Aff. confirms the following facts:

• The primary purpose of the Permanent Easement Agreement was to secure for Vancroft a perpetual access easement across Lot 1 for the benefit of Lot 4. R. 000136.

• At the time that the Permanent Easement Agreement was drafted, it was agreed that the easement road would be 40 feet in width, which would be temporarily sufficient as a private road until Vancroft (or its successor-in-interest) was ready to develop the Lot 4 into a multi-lot residential subdivision. *Id*.

• When the parties executed the Permanent Easement Agreement, Tee understood that Vancroft intended to develop the Development Parcel into a multi-lot residential subdivision. Therefore it was contemplated and agreed by Vancroft and Tee that the easement road would eventually be dedicated to ACHD as a public road, and the easement area would be expanded to comply with whatever ACHD's requirements for a public road would be at the time of the dedication. The purpose of numbered-paragraph "6" of the Permanent Easement Agreement was to ensure that the owner of the Development Parcel would have the right to expand the easement road accordingly. R. 000136-000137.

• The anticipated dedication is expressly acknowledged in numbered-paragraph "2" of the Permanent Easement Agreement:

2. Grantee shall be solely and exclusively responsible for all costs and expenses of whatever kind or nature incurred connection with or related to the design, installation, construction and maintenance of the utilities or any road constructed within the easement area, including, but not limited to, all engineering, surveying, construction, and dedication, it being understood that the easement area is for the benefit of the Grantee and the owners, occupants and users of Lot 4, Block 2, Nibler Subdivision. All utilities shall be located in the easement area.

R. 000136.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

The primary issue on appeal is whether the District Court erred in determining that the

Permanent Easement Agreement did not convey a permanent easement across Lot 1 in favor of

Lot 4, which Boise Hollow may now expand to meet ACHD's requirements. The following

issues are necessarily incidental to the primary question:

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