Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-18-2016

Bedard and Musser v. City of Boise City Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 44171

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

B. BOISE HOLLOW RAISES SEVERAL ISSUES ON APPEAL THAT ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT.

1. Boise City is Not Bound by the Interest Granted in the Agreement and is Not Estopped from Challenging Its Current Validity.

For the first time on appeal, Boise Hollow now argues that Boise City should be estopped from denying the existence of a permanent easement over Lot 1 in favor of Lot 4. (Appellant's Br., p. 28.) Boise Hollow, having not preserved this argument below, now claims that Boise City is bound by the terms of the Agreement because it not only had constructive notice of its existence through Boise City's acceptance of the Deed of Gift, it also contractually subscribed to it by accepting the Deed of Gift. *Id.* (referencing R. p. 000618). Boise Hollow never raised this issue in any of its briefing, or at oral argument at the district court level, nor was this issue listed in Boise Hollow's Amended Notice of Appeal. (See generally, Mem. in Supp. of Pls.' Mot. for Summ. J., Plaintiffs' Mem. in Opp'n to Def.'s Cross-Mot. for Summ. J., Reply in Supp. of Pls.' Mot. for Summ. J., September 8, 2015, Transcript of Proceedings, and Am. Not. of Appeal.)

Issues not raised at the district court level, but instead raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered or reviewed by this Court. *Kirk v. Wescott*, __Idaho __, 382 P.3d 342 (2016) (quoting *Whitted v. Canyon Cty. Bd. Of Comm'rs*, 137 Idaho 118, 121, 44 P.3d 1173, 1176 (2002); *Krempasky v. Nez Perce County Planning and Zoning*, 150 Idaho 231, 236, 245 P.3d 983, 988 (2010)). Because this issue was not raised below, this Court should decline to address this issue on appeal.

As a separate ground, this Court should refuse to consider this argument because Boise Hollow attempted to raise this argument in its Post Summary Judgment Hearing Brief Re: Enforceability of Easement Covenant. (R. pp. 000659-000664.) Boise City objected to the district court's consideration of the brief as Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56 does not provide for submission of a post-argument brief, and additionally, the court did not request such briefing. Judge Medema, in addition to agreeing with Boise City that I.R.C.P. 56 did not provide for such submission and that he had not requested additional briefing, denied admission of the brief noting,

[t]he Court has not considered the briefing in making its decision as to the motions for summary judgment. Specifically when those argument [sic] appear to be

23

regarding a claim for relief based in contract when the only cause of action plaintiffs have raised in their pleadings is one regarding title to property.

(R. p. 000678.) Boise Hollow now attempts to circumvent the district court's denial of admission of its post-hearing brief by including its argument, almost verbatim, in its appeal. (*Compare* Appellant's Br. at pp. 28-30 and Post Summ. J. Hr'g Br. Re: Enforceability of Easement Covenant, at pp. 3-5.) This Court should refuse to hear this argument by Boise Hollow as it was not raised below and because the district court denied its admission via a post-hearing brief.

In the event this Court nevertheless decides to hear this argument raised for the first time on appeal, Boise Hollow cites no law for their suggestion that even if an encumbrance is no longer valid or enforceable, a property owner is estopped from challenging its validity if it accepts the deed which contains notice of a separate document conveying a no longer valid encumbrance. Boise Hollow instead cites numerous cases discussing the contractual nature of servitudes, restrictive covenants and declarations. (*See* Appellant's Br., p. 28.) However, Boise Hollow's reliance on these authorities is misplaced, as those cases do not deal with an alleged express easement whose only notice is based on a referenced Agreement which conveys at most an interest which terminated in 2007. A deed which contains notice of a separate instrument conveying a no longer valid encumbrance cannot breathe new life into that terminated interest. *See, Machado v Ryan*, 153 Idaho 212, 219, 280 P.3d 715, 722 (2012) (stating "thus language in a deed providing that the conveyance is 'subject to' easements of record does not itself reserve an easement."). In addition, the alleged easement was not in use when Boise City took title to the servient estate. Boise City had no actual notice of the use or potential of an alleged easement beyond what was

conveyed in the Agreement. Boise City was only aware of a recorded Agreement, which under preliminary investigation, revealed a license between Tee, Ltd. and Vancroft Corp. that was extinguished in 1993 or no later than 2007.

Boise Hollow does not have an equitable servitude in favor of Lot 4 across Lot 1. After Boise Hollow raises the argument that Boise City is contractually burdened by the Agreement, it then attempts to raise for the first time on appeal the idea that the Agreement created an equitable servitude. Again, the Court should not consider this argument as it has not been raised at the district court. However, even if this argument is considered by the Court, it is clear the Agreement does not create an equitable servitude or a restrictive covenant. An equitable servitude or restrictive covenant is an agreement not to assert a right or refrain from using ones' land in a certain way. 20 AM. JUR. 2D Covenants, Etc. § 148 (2015). Those are not the facts of our case. Here, we have a drafter attempting to create an express easement and we have a document conveying a license to use the property in a certain manner, not a restrictive covenant or equitable servitude. The cases Boise Hollow cites do not stand for the proposition that by referencing an encumbrance in a deed, that particular encumbrance becomes effective against that deed holder even if the encumbrance is not valid on its face. (See Appellant's Br., pp. 28-30.) Again, a deed stating the property in question is "subject to" or includes similar language, referencing a list of exceptions or other encumbrances, does not create a new or automatically binding obligation related to that exception. Instead, this language is merely incorporated into the deed to create exceptions to the covenants in the warranty deed made by the person conveying the property. Birdwood Subdiv. Homeowners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Bulotti Const., Inc., 145 Idaho 17, 21, 175 P.3d 179, 183 (2007); Akers v. D.L. White Const., Inc., 142 Idaho 293, 301, 127 P.3d 196, 204 (2005).

2. <u>The Plain Language of the Unambiguous Agreement is Controlling and Specifies a</u> Maximum Width of Forty Feet (40').

Boise Hollow again attempts to raise the issue of the interpretation of the terms of the Agreement. That issue is not properly before this Court. Nowhere in the district court's decision does it address the issue of the plain language of the Agreement as it relates to the interpretation of the width or scope of the license area. (*See generally* Mem. Decision and Ord. Re: Cross-Mots. for Summ. J.) In finding that a permanent and perpetual easement does not exist, the width of the non-existent easement and Boise Hollow's claim that it is expandable, were never decided by the trial court.

As this Court has held on numerous occasions, only an issue which has received an adverse ruling by the court below may be appealed. *Whitted v. Canyon County Board of Com'rs*, 137 Idaho 118, 121, 44 P.3d 1173 (2002) (*see also, Kirk v. Wescott*, ___ Idaho __, 382 P.3d 342). Unless the appellant receives a ruling on that specific issue from the court below it will not be heard by this Court. *State v. Pickens*, 148 Idaho 554, 557, 224 P.3d 143, 146 (2010), *citing Smith v. State*, 146 Idaho 822, 203 P.3d 1221 (2009); *State v. Yakovac*, 145 Idaho 437, 180 P.3d 476 (2008); *Jensen v. Doherty*, 101 Idaho 910, 623 P.2d 1287 (1981); *State v. Harrison*, 147 Idaho 678, 681, 214 P.3d 664, 667 (Ct. App. 2009); *State v. Huntsman*, 146 Idaho 580, 199 P.3d 155 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. Harshbarger*, 139 Idaho 287, 77 P.3d 976 (Ct. App. 2003). This Court does not review a purported error by the trial court unless the record reveals an adverse ruling which forms the

assignment of error. *Ada Cnty. Highway Dist. v. Total Success Investments, LLC*, 145 Idaho 360, 368, 179 P.3d 323, 331 (2008). "This Court will not search the record for error. We do not presume error on appeal; the party alleging error has the burden of showing it in the record." *PHH Mortg. v. Nickerson*, 160 Idaho 388, 374 P.3d 551, 562 (2015), *citing VanderWal v. Albar, Inc.*, 154 Idaho 816, 822, 303 P.3d 175, 181 (2013) (quoting *Miller v. Callear*, 140 Idaho 213, 218, 91 P.3d 1117, 1122 (2004)).

In *PHH Mortg.*, the Nickersons appealed the lower court's grant of summary judgment against them in an action for judicial foreclosure. *Id.* at 388, 374 P.3d at 554. The Nickersons raised numerous issues on appeal and this Court addressed a majority of them, but devoted a section of its decision to address what issues were not before this Court. In refusing to hear these issues, the Court stated, "the Nickersons fail to provide a citation to the record showing the district court's decision on the issue, much less address the basis for that decision. Thus we will not address the Nickersons' claim...." *Id.* at 388, 374 P.3d at 562. Similarly, in our case the width and expandability of the easement was not pertinent to the district court's holding that a perpetual easement did not exist. There is no adverse holding on that issue which could form the basis of Boise Hollow's appeal of that issue. In addition, Boise Hollow has pointed to no alleged error on this issue which could be reviewed by this Court. Therefore, this Court should not address the claim that Boise Hollow has the right to an expandable easement.

In the event the Court decides to nonetheless address this issue, Boise City would refer this Court to the full argument on this issue within its Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, pp. 10-16 at R. pp. 000240-000246, Defendant's Response in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, pp. 11-14 at R. pp. 000385-000388 and Reply in Support of Defendant's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, pp. 4-10 at R. pp. 000526-000532.

In short, the plain unambiguous language of the Agreement specifies a width of forty feet (40'). (R. pp. 000019-000030.) In addition to stating the width of the alleged easement area, the parties to the Agreement also include a legal description of forty feet (40') and the metes and bounds document depicting forty feet (40'). (R. pp. 000027-000028.) Nowhere in the Agreement is there any language stating the width of the easement may be enlarged or expanded beyond forty feet (40') at any time. (*See* R. pp. 000019-000030.)

When reviewing the language of an easement agreement, a strong emphasis is placed on the written expression of the parties' intent. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROP.: SERVITUDES, §§ 4.1(d) (2000). The plain language of a contract is controlling when the language is unambiguous. *Steel Farms, Inc. v. Croft & Reed, Inc.*, 154 Idaho 259, 266, 297 P.3d 222, 229 (2012). When the language of a contract is unambiguous, its meaning must be determined from its words. *Cristo Viene Pentecostal Church v. Paz*, 144 Idaho 304, 308, 160 P.3d 743, 747 (2007) (citing *Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates, LLC*, 140 Idaho 354, 361, 93 P.3d 685, 692 (2004)). The words used by the parties in drafting the contract offer the best evidence of the parties' mutual intent. *USA Fertilizer v. Idaho First Nat. Bank*, 120 Idaho 271, 815 P.2d 469 (Ct. App. 1991). When the parties to an easement describe with specificity the location, utility or width of the easement, such specification is "ordinarily construed to place an outside limit on the dimensions." RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROP.: SERVITUDES, at § 4.8(d). Paragraph 6 of the Agreement, which discusses potential dedication of a road created within the license area can be read in harmony with Paragraph 1 which designates its width, primarily because they address different elements of the Agreement: Paragraph 1 specifies the size and use of the 40' area, whereas Paragraph 6 *authorizes* dedication of any road constructed within the 40' area. (R. p. 000021.) Paragraph 6 does not modify the unambiguous dimensional language of Paragraph 1. *Id.* In fact, Paragraph 6 does not even reference Paragraph 1. *Id.* Paragraph 6 merely grants the "right" to dedicate a road that, when completed, meets ACHD's specifications. *Id.* Nowhere in Paragraph 6 does not motify requirement or any ability to change the width to accompany such requirement. *Id.*

If Paragraph 6 were to be interpreted to allow the grantee of the Agreement to expand the width of the area, such interpretation would make Paragraph 6 in direct contradiction to Paragraph 1. "In construing a contract, an interpretation should be avoided that would render meaningless any particular provision in the contract." *Star Phoenix Min. Co v. Hecla Min. Co.*, 130 Idaho 223, 233, 939 P.2d 542, 552 (1997) (quoting *Top of the Track Assoc. v. Lewiston Raceways, Inc.*, 654 A.2d 1293, 1296 (Me. 1995)). Discussing conflicting provisions of a contract, the Supreme Court stated:

While provisions of a contract are to be read together and harmonized whenever possible, yet if two clauses relating to the same thing are so repugnant that they cannot stand together, the first will be received and the later one rejected, especially when the latter is inconsistent with the general purpose and intent of the instrument and would nullify it. *Morgan v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co.*, 68 Idaho 506, 518, 201 P.2d 976, 983 (1948). Applying the principles set forth by this Court in *Morgan*, if Paragraph 6 is given the interpretation Boise Hollow is seeking, it would be in contradiction with Paragraph 1 and the earlier (Paragraph 1) would be considered and the later (Paragraph 6) would be rejected, as it would be inconsistent with the general purpose and intent of Paragraph 1.

3. Parol Evidence is Not Admissible to Show the Agreement was Expandable.

Boise Hollow argues that should this Court find that the terms of the Agreement are ambiguous, this Court should rely on extrinsic evidence in determining the parties' intent. (Appellant's Br., pp. 37-40.) Again, this issue is not before the Court. The District Court made no rulings on the issue of whether parol evidence should be considered and Boise Hollow has failed to point to any adverse ruling on this issue for this Court to review for error. Therefore, this issue should not be addressed by this Court. For the sake of brevity, please refer to Section B(2) above for extensive legal authority supporting the fact that issues which were not ruled on below by the trial court should not be considered by this Court.

Boise Hollow suggests that in the event this Court finds the Agreement is ambiguous, the district court erred by excluding the affidavits of Rebecca Arnold and Colin Connell and the Second Declaration by Sanderson. (Appellant's Br., pp. 39-40.) Although, Boise Hollow provides a citation to the record to show an adverse ruling on the issue, Boise Hollow mischaracterizes the district court's holding in order to ask this Court to review it. (*Id.* at 40.) In asking this Court to find error with the district court, Boise Hollow misrepresents the lower court's holding by stating, "[t]he basis of the District Court's exclusion [of the affidavits] was the Court's conclusion that the

Permanent Easement Agreement is not ambiguous," to which they cite the Record at 000675.

(Appellant's Br., pp. 39-40.) This is completely inaccurate. Instead, Judge Medema states almost

the opposite,

Because Tee, Ltd., could not convey a greater interest in what became of Lot 1, Block 2, Nibler subdivision than it possessed, and because Tee, Ltd., possessed only a term leasehold estate, it is not necessary to interpret the Agreement to determine what the parties thought Tee was conveying. It was not possible for Tee to convey an easement which burdened Lot 1 in perpetuity. Whatever Tee conveyed to Vancroft expired no later than when the leasehold Tee held was terminated. Therefore, defendant is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law without interpreting the Agreement itself. Therefore, the various averments about the intent of the parties and circumstances surrounding the execution of the Agreement are irrelevant. The affiants' and declarants' statements about themselves, their backgrounds, and their opinions are also irrelevant."

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